**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000419
Trial Court Case No. 2013-CP-10-03251

RECEIVED

FEB 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Rosemary Connelly,

Respondent,

v.

Winsor Custom Homes, LLC,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

YOUNG CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP

Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)

Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)

25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400

Charleston, South Carolina 29401

P.O. Box 993 (29402)

(843) 720-5488

Counsel for Appellant

Winsor Custom Homes, LLC

INTRODUCTION

This is a personal-injury lawsuit arising out of an alleged trip-and-fall accident (the “Subject Accident”) while Mrs. Connelly¹ was jogging on the sidewalk in front of the property—at the time, a construction site where Winsor,² a general contractor, was building a new home—located at 1376 Smythe Street on Daniel Island (the “Premises”). In conjunction with the ongoing project, Winsor had installed a silt fence around the perimeter of the Premises, and according to Mrs. Connelly, the Subject Accident happened because the sidewalk was partially obstructed by detached black plastic silt-fence material, and even though, admittedly, *she recognized the obstacle beforehand and tried to run around it*, the wind blew it into contact with her foot.

As it now stands, in the wake of a jury trial and unsuccessful post-trial motions, Winsor has a \$325,000 judgment against it, and most respectfully, this appeal is about why it should not. In broadest terms, Winsor intends to show, first and foremost, that the trial court erred in denying it judgment as a matter of law, but at a minimum, that this case should be remanded for a new trial on account of a number of prejudicial errors in the proceedings below.

¹ “Mrs. Connelly” is Plaintiff-Respondent Rosemary Connelly.

² “Winsor” is Defendant-Appellant Winsor Custom Homes, LLC.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying Winsor judgment as a matter of law?³**
- A. Did the trial court err in determining that Winsor owed Mrs. Connelly a legal duty to maintain the silt fence and, in consequence, err in determining that Mrs. Connelly had a viable claim against Winsor for ordinary negligence?**
- B. Did the trial court err in refusing to rule as a matter of law that, in light of South Carolina's adoption of the rule stated in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343A and the only reasonable conclusion capable of being drawn from the evidence presented, Winsor was not liable to Mrs. Connelly for the Subject Accident?**
- C. Did the trial court err in refusing to rule as a matter of law that, in light of the only reasonable conclusion capable of being drawn from the evidence presented, Mrs. Connelly was at least 51% at fault for the Subject Accident and, therefore, she could not recover against Winsor because of her comparative negligence?**
- II. Assuming, *arguendo*, Winsor is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law, should this case be remanded for a new trial on account of prejudicial errors in the proceedings below?**
- A. Did the trial court err in denying Winsor's motion for a mistrial when Mrs. Connelly raised the subject of insurance to the jury?⁴**
- B. Did the trial court err in partially directing a verdict against Winsor as to liability (i.e., as to the issues of duty and breach)?**

³ This issue, and the corresponding argument below, addresses and includes errors in denying Winsor's directed-verdict motions and its motion for JNOV.

⁴ In addition to the initial error in denying Winsor's motion for a mistrial because of Mrs. Connelly's testimony (which, to be clear, warrants reversal standing alone), this issue, and the corresponding argument below, addresses and includes other and/or further errors and prejudice to Winsor on account of the subject of insurance being raised to the jury.

- C. **Did the trial court err in refusing to give Winsor’s requested jury charge regarding § 343A?**
- D. **Did the trial court err in denying Winsor’s challenge to the reliability and admissibility of Mrs. Connelly’s medical expert testimony with respect to the alleged causal connection between the Subject Accident and Mrs. Connelly’s claimed loss of her sense of smell and decreased sense of taste?**
- E. **Did the trial court err in denying Winsor’s motion for a new trial absolute because the jury’s damages determination was grossly excessive, indicating that the jury was motivated by some improper influence?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Subject Accident happened on June 6, 2011, and Mrs. Connelly commenced this suit on June 4, 2013, in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. (*See generally* R. pp. 7-14.)⁵ Referring to herself as “an invitee of the sidewalk or right of way at the sidewalk located directly in front of the Premises”⁶ and alleging that “Winsor, as builders and agents of the owners of the Premises, owed [her] a duty to exercise reasonable and ordinary care for the safety and well-being of persons passing by on the [sidewalk] at the Premises,”⁷ Mrs. Connelly averred that at the time of the Subject Accident the silt fence “was in disrepair and

⁵ As reflected in the caption of her summons and complaint, Mrs. Connelly sued four other defendants besides Winsor. By the time of trial, however, Winsor was the only defendant remaining in the case, and the trial court amended the case caption to its present form. (R. p. 1.)

⁶ (R. p. 11, ¶ 24.)

⁷ (R. p. 12, ¶ 39.)

was encroaching on the sidewalk or right of way at various places along, within, and/or abutting the property line of the Premises and the sidewalk or right of way[;]”⁸ that as she approached it she did not know the silt fence “was inadequately secured to the ground[;]”⁹ and that, “through no fault of her own,” she was caused to trip and fall when, “[w]hile [she] was jogging on the sidewalk located on the Premises, a gust of wind caused the [silt fence] to suddenly and unexpectedly encroach into the sidewalk or right of way.” (R. p. 11, ¶¶ 26-29.) She asserted a single cause of action styled “Negligence/Negligence Per Se/Gross Negligence.” (R. pp. 5-7, ¶¶ 37-45 (original emphasis and capital lettering omitted).)

Winsor timely answered, denying Mrs. Connelly’s material allegations and pleading a number of affirmative defenses,¹⁰ and following a period of discovery, the case came on for a jury trial; it lasted four days, from August 25-28, 2015, the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., presiding. (R. pp. 27-638.)¹¹

In pre-trial proceedings on August 24, 2015, the trial court denied Winsor’s challenge to the medical expert testimony Mrs. Connelly intended to offer to prove

⁸ (R. p. 10, ¶ 22.)

⁹ (R. p. 11, ¶ 25; *see also* R. p. 11, ¶27.)

¹⁰ (R. pp. 15-26.)

¹¹ Jury selection—which is not relevant to this appeal—was actually conducted by the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. Judge Nicholson presided over all proceedings relevant to this appeal.

the requisite causal connection between the Subject Accident and her claimed loss of the sense of smell and diminished sense of taste (the “Smell/Taste Problem”),¹² rejecting Winsor’s argument that Mrs. Connelly’s experts’ opinions were unreliable in this regard and therefore inadmissible. (R. p. 54, line 10 – p. 76, line 11; R. p. 81, line 13 – p. 83, line 22; R. p. 108, line 1 – p. 109, line 7; R. p. 111, line 4 – p. 119, line 7; R. pp. 712-1119.)¹³

When trial began the next day, Mrs. Connelly was the first witness to testify. During cross-examination, Mrs. Connelly raised the subject of insurance to the jury, and Winsor promptly moved for a mistrial, which the trial court denied. (R. p. 243, line 4 – p. 252, line 21.)

At the close of Mrs. Connelly’s case, and again at the close of all evidence, Winsor moved for a directed verdict. Distinguishing a claim of negligence under a premises-liability theory from a claim of ordinary (non-premises-liability) negligence, Winsor argued that Mrs. Connelly did not have a viable claim for

¹² Mrs. Connelly intended, and ultimately was allowed, to present medical expert testimony on the alleged causal connection via Drs. Thomas Funcik and Mark Ghegan, both of whom had been deposed the week before on video. (R. pp. 838-1034; R. pp. 1035-1119.)

¹³ Far and away, the most substantial damage claimed in this case relates to the Smell/Taste Problem. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 140, lines 10-16.) Mrs. Connelly’s other claimed damages are comparatively modest—chief among them a nondisplaced-to-minimally-displaced nasal fracture and related surgical procedure, the same time as which she elected to have unrelated cosmetic enhancements. (R. pp. 1135, 1134, 1123, 1137-1138.) Her only claimed pecuniary loss consists of medical expenses totaling less than \$13,500. (R. pp. 1198-1209.)

ordinary negligence because Winsor did not owe Mrs. Connelly a duty to maintain the silt fence—the supposed legal duty upon which her ordinary-negligence theory rested. Winsor further argued that, while it did have a duty under the law of premises liability not to create an unsafe condition on the sidewalk, the evidence was such that, as a matter of law, Mrs. Connelly could not prevail on a premises-liability claim in light of South Carolina’s adoption of the rule stated in § 343A, regarding “Known or Obvious Dangers.”¹⁴ For that matter, Winsor argued that even were Mrs. Connelly to have a potentially viable ordinary negligence claim against it based on negligent maintenance of the silt fence such a claim would nonetheless fail as a matter of law under § 343A because the rule stated therein applies to “any activity or condition,” which would cover silt-fence maintenance. Further still, Winsor argued even assuming, *arguendo*, § 343A did not apply, no

¹⁴ Section 343A states as follows:

- (1) A possessor of land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.
- (2) In determining whether the possessor should anticipate harm from a known or obvious danger, the fact that the invitee is entitled to make use of public land, or of the facilities of a public utility, is a factor of importance indicating that the harm should be anticipated.

South Carolina adopted the rule stated in § 343A in Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corporation, 305 S.C. 123, 126, 406 S.E.2d 361, 362-63 (1991).

reasonable jury could find Mrs. Connelly to be less than 51% at fault for the Subject Accident; thus, in any event, Winsor was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on account of Mrs. Connelly's comparative negligence. Except for in two respects not relevant to this appeal, the trial court denied Winsor's motions. (R. p. 491, line 21 – p. 503, line 7; R. p. 563, line 15 – p. 564, line 8; R. pp. 1234-1237.)¹⁵

In arguing against Winsor's first directed-verdict motion, Mrs. Connelly, through her counsel, made clear that she was not pursuing a premises-liability claim against Winsor; rather, her claim was for "simple," i.e., ordinary, negligence, premised on Winsor's alleged breach of a legal duty that it owed her to maintain the silt fence. (R. p. 495, line 18 – p. 496, line 20.) Then, at the close of all evidence, Mrs. Connelly moved for a directed verdict on the issue of negligence, arguing Winsor owed her a legal duty to maintain the silt fence and that the evidence was such that the trial court should find Winsor breached that duty as a matter of law. (R. p. 556, line 8 – p. 557, line 7.) Notwithstanding Winsor's objection and argument to the contrary, the trial court determined that this was not a premises-liability case, but an ordinary-negligence case, founded on the duty, which it determined Winsor owed to Mrs. Connelly, to maintain the silt fence.

¹⁵ Though irrelevant to this appeal, the trial court did grant Winsor a directed verdict on Mrs. Connelly's claim of negligence *per se* (R. p. 498, lines 12-13) and also struck punitive damages from the case. (R. p. 563, lines 20-21.)

Moreover, the trial court ruled that the evidence left no jury question as to whether Winsor had breached this duty and, thus, determined the issue of breach as a matter of law, granting a partial directed verdict in favor of Mrs. Connelly. (R. p. 557, line 8 – p. 563, line 15; R. p. 565, line 22 – p. 566, line 17.)

Instructed that, “[a]s a matter of law, [the trial court] ha[d] found that [Mrs. Connelly] has met the burden of proving [Winsor’s] duty and breach,”¹⁶ the jury was then given the case to determine issues of proximate cause, comparative negligence, and damages with respect to Mrs. Connelly’s ordinary-negligence claim—the trial court having refused Winsor’s proposed jury charge on § 343A and, also, over Winsor’s objection, given a “curative” instruction regarding insurance. (R. p. 613, line 13 – p. 633, line 1; R. pp. 3-5; R. pp. 1238-1241.) The jury returned a verdict finding Winsor had proximately caused Mrs. Connelly damages that it valued at \$500,000 but also finding Mrs. Connelly to have been 35% comparatively negligent. (R. p. 634, line 5 – p. 610, line 10; R. pp. 3-5.) The trial court then entered judgment in favor of Mrs. Connelly, against Winsor, in the amount of \$325,000, i.e., \$500,000 reduced by 35%. (R. p. 2.)

This appeal, notice of which was served February 26, 2016, timely follows the trial court’s hearing and denial of Winsor’s timely post-trial motions, which

¹⁶ (R. p. 620, line 4-7.)

had sought JNOV or, alternatively, a new trial. (R. pp. 1243-1305; R. pp. 639-711; R. p. 6; Notice of Appeal.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹⁷

Though she herself lived on Sullivan’s Island, Mrs. Connelly had been regularly jogging on Daniel Island for several years before the Subject Accident. Her friend Cori Smith (“Smith”), a fitness trainer by trade, lived on Daniel Island, and three days a week on average, Mrs. Connelly would drive over, and she and Smith would run together. (R. p. 158, lines 3-5; R. pp. 161, line 17 – p. 163, line 9; R. p. 209, line 20 – p. 210, lines 5-7; R. p. 328, line 14 – p. 329, line 4; R. p. 329, line 16 – p. 331, line 8.)

At the time of the Subject Accident, a new home was under construction on the Premises, and as required by the Daniel Island Architectural Review Board (“ARB”), general contractor Winsor had installed a silt fence—made of black plastic material attached to wooden support stakes—around the perimeter of the Premises for erosion control. (R. p. 402, line 4 – p. 404, line 20; R. p. 1215; R. p. 1210; R. pp. 1211-1214; R. pp. 1215-1216.)

The Subject Accident happened on a windy, but otherwise pleasant, Monday morning when, while out jogging with Smith, about halfway through their run,¹⁸

¹⁷ Please note that this factual statement is not intended to be exhaustive; additional facts will be presented in support of the arguments that follow.

Mrs. Connelly tripped and fell on the sidewalk in front of the Premises. Mrs. Connelly claims it happened because the silt fence was in disrepair; indeed, she claims it was in obvious disrepair and that it looked, for all intents and purposes, just as depicted in the photo Bates Labeled RMC 96 (the “Claimed Accident Condition”). (R. p. 164, lines 4-10; R. p. 337, lines 1-11; R. p. 378, line 18 – p. 379, line 9; R. p. 576, lines 11-15; R. pp. 1217-1218.)¹⁹ Mrs. Connelly says—literally, her own words are quoted below, as are those of Smith and Mrs. Connelly’s counsel—the Subject Accident happened because detached black plastic fencing material was partially obstructing the sidewalk, and even though, admittedly, *she recognized the obstacle beforehand and tried to jog around it*, the wind blew it into contact with her foot, causing her to trip and fall:

From Mrs. Connelly’s Testimony

[PLAINTIFF’S COUNSEL]: All right. Let me show you the photo of -- that we have of [the Premises (i.e., the Claimed Accident Condition)], and let me ask you, [Mrs. Connelly], take a look at it. And the jury can all see it.

¹⁸ At the time of the Subject Accident, Mrs. Connelly was running roughly four miles at a time, for a total of about 12 miles per week. (R. p. 162, line 17 – p. 163, line 9; R. p. 330, lines 14-18; R. p. 332, lines 16-21.)

¹⁹ Smith took this picture the day after the Subject Accident at the request of Mrs. Connelly’s husband, Bill Connelly (“Mr. Connelly”), an attorney. (R. p. 241, line 23 – p. 242, line 23; R. p. 336, lines 7-16; R. p. 362, line 19 – p. 364, line 25.) The accident location is in the foreground, and the sidewalk along which the ladies were running as they approached it is in the background; in other words, they were running toward the place where Smith was standing when she took the photo, with the Premises to their right. (R. p. 336, lines 3-20.)

Does that accurately depict what [the Premises] looked like that day?

[MRS. CONNELLY]: I would say yes. Maybe, you know, an inch here or an inch there, but I would say overall, yes.

(R. p. 164, lines 4-10.)

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Okay. *Did you see that when you came upon it* that day?

[MRS. CONNELLY]: Well, when I run, I look forward. I look down. And, *yes, I saw there was plastic. I mean, I avoided it. I tried to avoid it, to not go -- you know, you adjust your running* when you go -- and I run a 10 minute mile. I'm not saying I'm running any great distance here. Okay. And -- but I adjust to see what kind of conditions are -- you know, if there's a stop sign, I'm going to stop at the stop sign and look both ways crossing the street. *So, yeah, I saw that there was something black, yes.*

(R. p. 165, lines 9-20 (emphasis added).)

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Okay. Tell the jury *as you came upon this fence*, to the best of your recollection, what happened?

[MRS. CONNELLY]: Okay. I'm running down here. [Smith] is running -- I'm on the right hand -- I'm on the right hand side, and she's on the left hand side. And so she's -- I'm running a little bit faster than she is to get through there. You know, I put my foot down -- I put my left foot down, you're running, you're running you're running, you're running.

It was a windy day. I saw a fluttering motion of this black plastic. The plastic is like garbage can plastic, you know, that sort of -- you know, it's thin. *I ran to*

avoid it -- excuse me -- when I put my left foot down, I had my right foot up, and it caught on the plastic, and I fell forward, I -- toward my body. . . .

(R. p. 166, lines 4-18 (emphasis added).)

From Smith's Testimony

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Is this picture [(i.e., the Claimed Accident Condition)] -- does it accurately represent your memory of what the tarp looked like on June 6, 2011?

[SMITH]: Uh-huh, yes, sir.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: How was the weather that day?

[SMITH]: It was nice. It was windy, but nice.

(R. p. 337, lines 1-6.)

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury what happened as you and [Mrs. Connelly] ran past [the Premises] and *came upon this black plastic barrier?*

[SMITH]: *We were running past it*, and it was fine, and just going at a normal stride. And she stepped down and the tarp kind of flew up a little bit and got her foot, and she tripped and fell on her head.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: A couple things I want to go over on that. First of all, did you see any movement in the tarp from the wind as you were approaching it?

[SMITH]: I mean it was moving just a little bit, like a - *- you could tell it was windy*, but not crazy movement.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Well, was it flopping up and down like a garbage bag or something like that?

[SMITH]: No. No. *It was like just fluttering like wind would do to something.*

(R. p. 337, line 12 – p. 338, line 2 (emphasis added).)

From Mrs. Connelly's Counsel's Opening Statement

On . . . June 6, 2011, as [Mrs. Connelly and Smith] *approached that black plastic barrier fence . . . as they were jogging . . . they saw that the fence was partially in the sidewalk*, they did what many of us may have done. And that's *they just sort of jogged over to the left a little bit, because there was plenty of sidewalk there still.*

. . . *And [Mrs. Connelly] sort of jogged a little bit to the left to avoid it.* It was a little bit of a windy day, and that black plastic barrier -- it's kind of *made of a light, almost like hefty bag material* -- all right. . . .

And what happened was when it moved a little bit in the wind, . . . it caught [Mrs. Connelly's] right foot and she went forward. . . .

(R. p. 137, line 10 – p. 138, line 9 (emphasis added).)

From Mrs. Connelly's Counsel's Closing Argument

You folks have seen that photo [(referring to the Claimed Accident Condition)] over and over and over again in this trial. And *the fence was laying in the sidewalk, partially in the sidewalk.* All right. *That's what it looked like on June 6, 2011. The photo was taken on the next day, June 7, 2011.* . . .

(R. p. 576, lines 11-14 (emphasis added).)

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