**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000419

RECEIVED

FEB 16 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Rosemary Connelly,

Respondent,

v.

Winsor Custom Homes, LLC,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Christy Ford Allen (SC Bar #15649)
John A. Massalon (SC Bar #10279)
WILLS MASSALON & ALLEN LLC
Post Office Box 859
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 727-1144
callen@wmalawfirm.net
jmassalon@wmalawfirm.net
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Stephen L. Brown, Esquire (SC Bar #66468)
Russell G. Hines, Esquire (SC Bar #72100)
Young Clement Rivers, LLP
Post Office Box 99

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

III. ARGUMENT

a. Standard of Review

Winsor has raised several different grounds for appeal, several of which involve different standards of review. Respondent will address the respective standard of review during the corresponding argument.

b. The trial court did not err in denying Winsor judgment as a matter of law

Only when there is no evidence to support the ruling or when the ruling is governed by an error of law can a directed verdict be overturned on appeal. Austin v. Stokes-Craven, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135, 145 (2010) (citing Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife & Marine Res. Dep't, 328 S.C. 24, 29, 491 S.E.2d 571, 573 (1997)). As set forth above, the Court denied Winsor judgment as a matter of law. The court directed a verdict in favor of Connelly on the first two elements of negligence, and held, as a matter of law, that Winsor owed Connelly a duty to use due care in its maintenance of the Fence, and that the evidence mandated a finding that Winsor breached that duty. The elements of causation, damages, and comparative negligence were decided by the jury.

Winsor claims that the trial court erred in relying on a general negligence duty to use due care in lieu of considering the “premises liability” negligence duty a property owner owes to invitees on his own property. “An essential element in a cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff.” Bishop v. S.C. Dep’t of Mental Health, 331 S.C. 79, 86, 502 S.E.2d 78, 81 (1998). The duty of care is that standard of conduct the law requires of an actor to protect others against the risk of harm from his actions. Carter v. R.L. Jordan Oil Co., 294 S.C. 435, 444, 365 S.E.2d 324, 329 (Ct.App.1988), rev’d on other grounds, 299 S.C. 439, 385 S.E.2d 820 (1989). This common law duty of due care includes the duty to avoid damage or injury to foreseeable plaintiff. Darrell v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 312, 318, 605 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2004) (citing Terlinde v. J.F. Neely, Sr., 275 S.C. 395, 399, 271 S.E.2d 768, 770 (1980) (stating that the “key inquiry” in determining whether to impose liability is “foreseeability, not privity”). “The tortfeasor’s liability . . . rests upon the tortfeasor’s duty to exercise due care.” Darrell 361 S.C. at 318, 605 S.E.2d at 15 (2004) (citing Barker v. Sauls, 289 S.C. 121, 122, 345 S.E.2d 244, 244 (1986)).

Winsor suggests that the law of premises liability is distinct from the law of negligence, and that premises liability principles had exclusive application to this case. This suggestion, however, fails to recognize that the rules applicable to premises liability fall within the general law of negligence, not outside of it. “South Carolina uses a status or category system for determining the duty [a landowner or occupier] owed to *persons on the premises*.” Hubbard, F. Patrick and Felix, Robert L., THE SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OF TORTS, p. 121 (4thed. SC Bar 2011) (emphasis added). The law of negligence has developed to apply differing levels of duties owed by a landowner to persons on their property regarding dangerous conditions, depending on the classification of the injured person: licensee, invitee, adult trespasser, or child. Id. at 124-25.

Foreseeability remains a key underpinning to the limitations on the general duty to use due care imposed by these rules. Even further within the limitations on the duty of care in the premises liability context is the “open and obvious” doctrine. Connelly agrees that South Carolina adopted the Restatement Second of Torts version of this doctrine in 1991, which modified the common law rule wherein a landowner owed no duty to warn anyone of open and obvious conditions. See Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corp., 205 S.C. 123, 126, 406 S.E.2d, 361, 362 (1991) (business owner had a duty to warn its elderly customers of broken stool, even though open and obvious, because owner should have anticipated the harm and had knowledge the customers often backed into the stools to sit down). Prior to Callander, an owner owed no duty to warn of open and obvious conditions. After Callander, the law recognized an exception to that rule where the owner should have anticipated the harm despite its obviousness. Id. Notwithstanding this modification, the open and obvious rule should be considered one of the most, if not the most, narrow of the “on the premises” duties because as long as the facts do not warrant a finding pursuant to the exception, the owner has no duty at all.

Contrary to Winsor’s argument, neither the tort duties owed invitees nor the open and obvious rule applies in this case because Connelly was not “on the premises” nor was the dangerous condition “on the premises” when Connelly encountered it. With regard to persons “off the premises” and on a public right of way adjacent to the owner/occupier’s land, the “landowner owes those on a public right of way adjacent to his land a duty of due care in the conduct of activities on his land.” SC LAW OF TORTS, at p. 60, note 82, 123-24. In Epps v. United States, 862 F.Supp.2d 1460 (D.S.C 1994), the court thoroughly analyzed the nature of the duty owed when one controls property abutting a public sidewalk explaining that, in South Carolina

the general rule appears to be that an abutting landowner or occupier normally does not have a duty of care with respect to the safety of the sidewalk *unless* such a duty is imposed by legislation, *the abutter created an unsafe condition on the sidewalk*, or the abutter has a special property interest in the sidewalk. . . . See 39 Am.Jur.2d Highways, Streets, and Bridges § 365 (1968) ("An owner or occupant of land abutting on a highway, street, or sidewalk, who does not enjoy a private servitude in the way, does not, in the absence of statute or ordinance to the contrary, owe to the public a duty to keep the way in a safe condition, and is generally held not liable for injuries sustained by travelers thereon as a result of conditions which he has not *been instrumental in creating or maintaining*") . . . This is also the English common law rule

Id. at 1464. (emphasis added). Whether a duty arises in a given case may depend on the existence of particular facts. Carson v. Adgar, 326 S.C. 212, 486 S.E.2d 3 (1997). Where a landowner or occupier has "created or maintained a hazard on the sidewalk, or the hazard is otherwise legally traceable to it," a duty of care is imposed. Epps, 862 F.Supp.2d at 1467.

In this case, the injury occurred off the owner's property, and was caused by a fence in disrepair, the disrepair of which allowed it to blow into and about the public sidewalk. Winsor installed the Fence, admitted that it was responsible for the Fence, was in control of the fence, and undertook to maintain the Fence as part of its construction job duties. (R. pp. 399, 402-04). Winsor testified that the purpose of the Fence was, at least in part, to keep construction debris from encroaching onto the public sidewalk and the property of others. (R. pp. 427-29). Connelly did not enter the owner's property for any purpose. Instead, Connelly asserted that the actions undertaken by Winsor with regard to its activities concerning the fence were not done with due care. In issuing the directed verdict, the trial court determined that it was foreseeable that Connelly could suffer injury if the Fence were not properly maintained.

In light of the undisputed facts in this case, some of which are somewhat unusual, the trial court properly found that Winsor owed Connelly, a person on a public right of way adjacent to the land it occupied and controlled, a duty of due care in the conduct of those activities. Those

activities in this case related only to the maintenance and inspection of the construction fence Winsor had installed. Regardless of the label placed on the duty, the result – finding a duty of due care with regard to the condition of the fence – was not an error of law.¹

With regard to the trial court directing a verdict that Winsor breached the duty to use due care, only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence. Connelly presented evidence that the Fence was in a significant state of disrepair on June 6, 2011. (R. pp. 335, 337, Photo 1218, 378-79, 409). Connelly also provided evidence that Winsor knew or reasonably should have known that the Fence was down and in a significant state of disrepair. (R. pp. 392-93, 405-06, Photo 1215, 432). Winsor admitted that it was aware that the Fence material could become airborne if it was detached from its stakes. (R. p. 410). Winsor testified that its workers would improperly climb over the similar fences as a shortcut to enter the site, instead of using the construction entrance, and that it had encountered that problem before. (R. pp. 406-07). Finally, Winsor had received a written warning less than three (3) months prior to the accident from the Daniel Island Architectural Review Board regarding the state of disrepair of this particular Fence and Winsor's failure to provide a proper construction entrance onto the site. (R. pp. 460-61).

The record contains no evidence to support Winsor's apparent argument that the Fence only came into a state of disrepair just prior to Connelly's accident, and nothing in the law of negligence requires Connelly to prove exactly the moment the dangerous condition came to exist. The testimony of Thomas that he had no memory of fixing the Fence between receiving that ARB

¹ Winsor states in its brief that Connelly abandoned its premises liability claim by the acceptance of the trial court's decision to charge causation and damages under a general negligence theory. Considering that the court had already directed verdict on the duty and breach of the duty, it is unclear how Connelly's handling of the jury charges could have waived any claim. As stated herein, the trial court reached the correct conclusion regarding the duty, as a matter of law.

notice and the accident date, but that he supposed he must have because he always does, does not require reversal. (R. pp. 462-64). Thomas was Winsor's only witness, other than a medical expert. Thomas was called to testify by Connelly in the case in chief. Winsor did not recall Thomas in its case in chief, nor did it call any other witness related to that issue. (R. p. 529)

Even when the question of notice of the condition of the Fence prior to the accident was raised, the trial court properly concluded that Connelly had presented uncontroverted evidence that the Fence was in disrepair, (R. pp. 559-60), that Winsor received notice of said condition, but had presented no evidence it had addressed the condition.²

There was evidence supporting the court's ruling, and no error of law was committed.

c. The court's failure to charge the open and obvious rule does not warrant reversal, nor was Winsor entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the basis of the open and obvious rule.

Winsor claims that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law that it was not liable to Connelly because the dangerous condition was "open and obvious", and in the alternative, that it was reversible error for the trial judge not to charge the proposed "Known or Obvious Dangers" charge to the jury.

With regard to the jury charge and considering that the trial court granted directed verdict as to the duty and the breach of said duty, the charge actually given to the jury as whole was sufficient. "To warrant reversal for refusal to give a requested instruction, the refusal must have not only been erroneous, but prejudicial as well. Refusal to give a properly requested charge is not error if the general instructions are sufficiently broad to enable the jury to understand the law and

²There is nothing to indicate that the trial judge's ruling relied on res ipsa loquitor. Res ipsa goes to the issue of causation – that because some unsafe condition existed, it must have caused the alleged damages. The court did not direct a verdict on causation, and the jury was charged with the definition and prohibition of res ipsa as a basis for finding proximate cause. (R. pp. 601-02).

the issues involved.” Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light, 531 S.E.2d 535, 540–41 (S.C. App. 2000) (citations omitted). When instructing the jury, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. See Jones v. Cannerella, 297 S.C. 212, 215, 375 S.E.2d 352, 354 (Ct.App.1988) (“A trial charge must be considered as a whole and claims of error in a portion of the charge must be viewed in light of and in context with the rest of the charge.”).

In this case, the open and obvious rule affects the scope of the duty—and generally, the duty to warn, or lack of duty to warn of dangers *on* one’s property. The open and obvious rule originates from the “traditional ‘no duty to warn of the obvious.’” Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corp., 305 S.E.2d 123, 125, 406 S.E.2d 362 (1991). The court eventually modified that the traditional rule in Callander by adopting the Restatement (Second) of Torts, §343(A) which added an exception. While the Restatement phrases the rule as “a possessor of land is not liable to,” such is equivalent to modification of the scope of the duty itself, rendering it: a possessor of land does not owe a duty to invitees for harm caused by a condition whose danger is known or obvious. Then, the rule provides an exception to the lack of duty in that circumstance: there is duty owed (to warn) if the possessor of land should anticipate the harm, despite its being open and obvious.

In this case, the court found that there was a duty to use due care in the maintenance of the Fence by Winsor, *see infra* pp. 8-11. The injury did not take place on the owner’s property, and there was no claim that Winsor should have warned Connelly; instead Winsor’s alleged negligence was its failure to maintain the Fence, in light of its knowledge that it was in disrepair and that if airborne it could traverse the public sidewalk. This was not an error in law.

Further, Winsor presents only the fact of the verdict to establish prejudice. The absence of the known or obvious charge did not prejudice the jury.

d. Connelly's comparative negligence was not established to be more than 50% as a matter of law

Winsor claims that the condition of the Fence was open and obvious, and as such Connelly was more than 50% responsible for jogging near the Fence, as a matter of law. A pedestrian has the legal right to assume the absence of the defect that caused the fall. Bryant v. City of North Charleston, 304 S.C. 123, 403 SE.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1991) (cert denied, June 14, 1991) citing Kimbrell v. Bi-Lo Inc., 248 S.C. 365, 150 S.E.2d 79 (1966) (the fact that the plaintiff saw the ramp she fell on and was conscious of its existence was not determinative of contributory negligence), Harrison v. Gallivan Const. Co., 188 S.C. 304, 304, 199 S.E. 307, 309 (1938) (sufficient question of fact existed to submit defendant contractor's actionable negligence to the jury after boards were placed across a public sidewalk to aid the passage of construction trucks). No duty is imposed on a member of the general public to examine a public street or sidewalk to see if there is a defect or obstruction therein. See Id. However, should a member of the general public fail to observe ordinary care in avoiding a known danger, they may be held to be comparatively negligent. See Id. (while the principles are virtually identical, this case discusses the obsolete standard of contributory negligence that South Carolina courts have phased out in favor of comparative negligence).

It is well settled in South Carolina law that comparison of Connelly's negligence with that of Winsor is a question of fact for the jury to decide, and only in rare circumstances is the issue a question for law for the court. Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't, 328 S.C. 24, 32, 491 S.E.2d 571, 575 (1997); accord Brown v. Smalls, 325 S.C. 547, 481 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1997). In a comparative negligence case, the trial court should only determine judgment as a matter of law if the sole reasonable inference that may be drawn from the evidence is that plaintiff's negligence exceeded fifty percent. Creech, 328 S.C. at 33, 491 S.E.2d at 575 (discussing

directed verdict standard); see also Hopson v. Clary, 321 S.C. 312, 314, 468 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 1996) ("If the evidence as a whole is susceptible to only one reasonable inference, no jury issue is created" and a directed verdict motion is properly granted). Therefore, granting a motion for JNOV/judgment as a matter of law is generally not appropriate in a comparative negligence case. See Bloom v. Ravoira, 339 S.C. 417, 422, 529 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2000) (stating that summary judgment is normally inappropriate in a comparative negligence case).

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